IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROY BALLARD, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : .

Case No. SC08-2041

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Roy Ballard, age 65, was charged in Polk County with first degree murder of his adult stepdaughter Autumn Traub (2/122-23). The prosecution moved to disqualify Judge Susan Roberts on the basis of her comment at a pretrial hearing that the state might want to reevaluate its decision to seek the death penalty in light of Ballard's advanced age (2/158-59,164-70,187). The Second DCA found that the motion to disqualify was legally sufficient, in that the state could reasonably conclude that Judge Roberts' remarks "reflected a prejudgment on the issue of whether it would be appropriate to impose the death penalty in Mr. Ballard's case." State v. Ballard, 956 So.2d 470,473 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). Judge Villanti, concurring, noted that in order for old age to be considered a significant mitigator, "the defendant's age must be tethered to another factor such as mental health, retardation, or senility." Therefore, by prematurely commenting without having heard the evidence, "the trial judge's suggestions may or may not have been an accurate anticipation of whether his age could be significant mitigation." 956 So.2d at 475.

The case was reassigned to Circuit Judge Donald Jacobsen (2/213). At a status hearing less than four months before trial, in the midst of a discussion of penalty phase discovery, the prosecutor, Cass Castillo, acknowledged that "it is no secret that this is not an overwhelming death penalty case" (5/765). Mr. Castillo indicated that the State Attorney's Office was open to reconsideration of its decision to pursue the death penalty

(5/752-53); therefore, "if there is significant mitigation out there, we need to know about it so that we don't waste everybody's time" (5/765).

In the next hearing, a week later, the prosecutor further conceded that "this is not an overwhelming case, for a variety of reasons, on guilt" (5/800):

MR. CASTILLO: So I'm more focused on the guilt phase of this thing, and I think that's where the state's greater interest lies here.

So it's not to say I don't want to - - I'm not at all concerned about it [the penalty phase]. I am. But I'm primarily concerned with the guilt phase. (5/800)

Mr. Castillo reiterated that "[t]here doesn't need to be a whole lot of mitigation, from my perspective, from a medical perspective, you know, medical testimony" that could very well change the state's decision on the death penalty (5/800).

On June 5, 2008, Judge Jacobsen denied the defense's motion <u>in limine</u> to exclude evidence relating to the defendant's alleged prior sexual misconduct against Suny Houghtaling (8/1204-06).

The case proceeded to trial before Judge Jacobsen and a jury in June 2008. The state's case was entirely circumstantial, except for the testimony of a jailhouse informant. No body or murder weapon was ever found. The state's theory was that Roy Ballard was the last person seen with Autumn Traub; that his motive to kill her was to re-obtain custody of his stepgrandaughter Suny; and that the sole or primary reason he wanted custody was to resume having sexual relations with Suny. The defense contended that there was no proof that Autumn was dead or that Roy Ballard killed her; that due to his age and severe medical infirmities (including

a stroke the week before Autumn disappeared) he was not physically capable of murdering the much younger and much heavier Autumn, and then successfully transporting and disposing of her body; and that a Walgreen's clerk saw Autumn alive at a time after Roy said he dropped her off at the store.

The jury returned a verdict finding Roy Ballard guilty as charged (8/1253;26/2879).

In the penalty phase three weeks later, before the same jury, the only aggravating factor relied on by the state to establish death eligibility was the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" (CCP) aggravator. The defense had previously filed (and repeatedly renewed) motions challenging, based on Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), various aspects of Florida's death sentencing procedure, specifically asserting a violation of Ring and the Sixth Amendment in that Florida is the only state which does not require a unanimous jury finding of at least one aggravating circumstance necessary to make the defendant death eligible.^{\perp} (6/889-920;7/1041-76;see 2/138-40;6/969-71,979;7/1098,1143-64; 8/1183-86,1196-97,1208,1211-12;14/778-79;27/2893-96,3051-52). The existence of the CCP aggravator was vigorously contested by the defense, on grounds of legal insufficiency (27/3052-54;28/3055) and in its argument to the jury (28/3080-81,3085-87). The prosecutor concluded his argument to the jury by urging that CCP was a "very, very powerful aggravator" (28/3075), and emphasizing

 $^{^1}$ See State v. Steele, 921 So.2d 538 (Fla. 2006), quoted in the defense's motions (6/893-95,7/1050-52).

the lack of a requirement of unanimous agreement (28/3075-76).

The focus of the penalty phase testimony was on medical and mental issues. Drs. Tanner (a neurologist) and Sesta (a neuropsychologist), for the defense, discussed Ballard's history of strokes and seizures, resulting in cerebral vascular dementia and mild to moderate frontal lobe brain damage, which would have caused him difficulty in conforming his conduct to the requirements of law (27/2911-3010). The state called Dr. Nelson, a medical examiner and neuropathologist, who does not treat live patients and never examined Roy Ballard. He reviewed the scans and radiology reports from an MRI administered in September 2006 (during Ballard's hospitalization for seizures). Dr. Nelson acknowledged that "the MRI would not indicate brain functioning, it would just indicate any king of structural abnormality to the brain." Dr. Nelson saw no significant structural abnormalities, apart from several small acute infarcts in the right subcortical white matter (27/3014-21). The state also called Tom Witzigman, Ballard's supervisor at work, who didn't notice any drop-off in Ballard's job performance during the weeks after his hospitalization. However, he looked very tired when he came back to work so Witzigman told him to take it a little easy, and (on the second day after his return) suggested that he go home (27/3044-50).

The jury, by a 9-3 vote, recommended a death sentence (8/1281,28/3110).

On October 20, 2008, Judge Jacobsen entered a written order imposing the death penalty. The sole aggravating factor was CCP.

Three statutory mitigating circumstances (extreme mental or emotional disturbance, impaired capacity, and age) were found; however, each was accorded "slight" or "little to slight" weight (9/1398-1415, see 1389-96).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Pretrial

On May 31 and June 6, 2007, an Arthur² bond hearing was held, during which the state and defense presented much of their anticipated trial evidence (3/315-473;4/474-659); including the testimony of Suny (pronounced Sunny) Houghtaling (Roy Ballard's then 15 year old step-grandaughter)(4/497-559), as well as other testimony relating to Suny's accusations of sexual abuse by Roy and by a number of other men (including her current stepfather John Traub)(3/355-56,362,385-86,394-98,440,454-45). [The purpose of Suny's testimony, according to the state, was to establish a motive for the charged homicide of Autumn Traub].

Sunny testified at the Arthur hearing that the sexual experiences (including intercourse) with Roy Ballard began a couple of months after she moved in with her grandparents, and happened "like every other week", <u>continuing throughout the entire</u> <u>two-and-a-half years she lived with the Ballards</u> (4/501,505-06,546). Suny acknowledged that she had lied under oath when she gave a statement to Detectives Newsome and Dyess on September 19, 2006, and told them that nobody had sexually absued her (4/532-33,539-41). She testified that she was afraid and didn't want them

² <u>Arthur v. State</u>, 390 So.2d 717 (Fla. 1980).

to know (4/532-33). In addition to her testimony accusing Roy Ballard, she now stated that she had sex with her current stepfather John Traub one time (before she moved in with her grandparents), and she had sexual experience prior to that with a boyfriend (4/503-05,546).

Suny did not remember, when she was living with the Ballards, telling her grandmother Kathy that she had been molested by several different people, including John Traub (4/558). Nor did Suny remember whether she ever made any complaint that she'd been molested by her first stepfather Scott Niles, or by Scott's brothers (4/543-44). She did, however, recall talking to DCF investigators while she was living with her grandparents (4/558-59).

Detective Brian Wallace testified at the Arthur hearing that when he talked to Kathy and Roy Ballard they told him that Suny was very manipulative, and she had made many statements in the past, playing one against the other, including prior allegations against both Roy and John and a couple of other people (3/394-95)

On February 21, 2008, the state filed a notice of intent to offer evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts; specifically, that between 2002 and 2006 "the Defendant engaged in various acts of a sexual nature with Suny Houghtaling, a child less than 16 years of age, which included but not limited to acts of sexual battery" (5/739). Defense counsel indicated at a status hearing that he planned to file a motion <u>in limine</u> to exclude such evidence (5/774). The prosecutor said he intended to introduce the sexual molestation evidence to establish motive; he recognized

that it would be "very emotional" and "prejudicial if it's overdone" (5/775; see also 7/1125). The prosecutor expressed concern about crossing the line to where it might be viewed as a feature of the case; and suggested that if the defense would concede that the acts of sexual abuse occurred and were committed by Roy, then he wouldn't have to call so many witnesses to corroborate Suny's accusation (5/771-76; see alo 7/1119-21,1125).

On May 30, 2008, the defense filed a motion in limine, seeking to exclude accusations of sexual misconduct involving Suny Houghtaling, on the grounds that (1) the state had not met its burden of showing by clear and convincing evidence that the collateral crimes occurred, or that they were committed by Roy Ballard; (2) that whatever probative value the sexual abuse evidence might have was substantially outweighed by its explosive and overwhelming prejudicial impact (Fla. Stat. §90.403); and (3) that the collateral sexual crimes would inevitably become a feature of the trial, and would in fact "dominate the trial" (7/1078-82). In a hearing held two weeks before trial, defense counsel elaborated on each of those grounds (7/1101-14,1136-41), and pointed out that over the course of time (beginning well before Autumn Traub's disappearance) Suny Houghtaling had made multiple accusations and inconsistent statements involving a number of older males (7/1105-09, see 1079-80).

The prosecutor had filed his notice of intent to rely on other crimes, wrongs, or acts pursuant to Fla.Stat. §90.404, and he still suggested to the judge that "the proper analysis is 404" (5/739;7/1115), but he agreed that either way - - whether the

collateral crime evidence is offered under §90.404 or §90.402 - it is always going to be subject to the prejudice vs. probative value balancing test of §90.403 (7/1115,1123-24). The prosecutor also agreed with defense counsel that the state has the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed the collateral act (7/1115). He further acknowledged that Suny had made inconsistent statements; hence, according to the prosecutor, her credibility was central and needed to be corroborated by other testimony and evidence (e.g., the neighbors' observations and the police officers' discovery of a dildo) (7/1118-21). Nevertheless, the prosecutor's position was that the sexual abuse evidence was relevant to establish motive and context (7/1121-22,1126-33,1142), and if it became a feature of the case it would be the defense's own doing (7/1119-21,1125).

Judge Jacbosen took the matter under advisement (7/1141); then issued a written order denying the motion <u>in limine</u> (8/1204-06).

B. <u>Trial - State's Case</u>

John Traub married Autumn Houghtaling Niles in 2003, after they'd been dating for two years. Autumn had previously been married to Scott Niles, Sr., who was deceased. Autumn had two children, Suny Houghtaling and Scott Niles, Jr. (14/828-32;15/ 886). John Traub described Autumn as a large woman; about 5'6" 225 pounds (15/870-72,894). She received disability payments for seizures and slow learning, and she was on medication (Depacote) to control the seizures (15/871,886-87).

Autumn's mother and stepfather, Kathy and Roy Ballard, lived

in Zephyrhills in Pasco County. After Autumn and John got married, they and the children lived with the Ballards for a while, and then just down the street from them in a rented mobile home (14/830-32,15/868-69). Autumn and her stepfather Roy got along okay, "just like stepfather/father and daughter" (15/868). In July 2004, the Traubs "got kicked out" of their rental unit and they and the children had to move to Lakeland (14/832).

John and Autumn were both on felony probation for embezzling from their respective employers, and after they moved to Lakeland there ensued a series of VOPs which (after a period of "house arrest" for each) culminated in John doing a month and then two months in county jail; and Autumn also being jailed for a month, and later being sentenced to a year and a day in state prison (14/834-39). The first time both parents were simultaneously incarcerated (in 2004), the children had been visiting the Ballards, so they stayed there for the whole month. After the Traubs were released, Scott, Jr. came home (ultimately being placed in the custody of his paternal grandparents when Autumn was imprisoned and John rearrested) but Suny decided she wanted to remain with her grandparents (14/835-36).

Autumn was released from prison in May 2006, and she and John got a cottage on Vermont Avenue in Lakeland (14/839-40). In early August, Kathy Ballard got ahold of Autumn and asked her to sign some papers so Suny could get her learner's permit, and soon afterward Suny returned to live with the Traubs (14/841,844-45). Roy Ballard came down a few days later to move Suny's belongings, and "everything seemed perfectly fine" (14/844-45). Because the

house was so small (a combined living room/bedroom with a kitchen and bath), Suny slept on a pallet on the floor (14/848-49). Althoung Autumn herself had only a ninth grade education, she was planning on home schooling Suny (15/887). Also, Autumn had stopped taking her seizure medication (15/885).

On August 10, according to John, Roy came to get Suny and bring her back to his house, but she refused to go with him (14/842-43,15/893). Roy said he ahd a paper, signed and notarized by Autumn, giving him custody (14/843). Roy called the Lakeland police, who arrived and told him the paperwork had no legal effect because it was not signed by a judge (14/842-43). While the police were there, Roy and John each accused the other of having sexual contact with Suny (14/843-44).

[John Traub testified that when he was in jail a year prior to this confrontation he had been questioned by DCF investigators, who said that Kathy Ballard had reported him for sexually abusing Suny 914/843;15/876-77). Asked by the prosecutor on direct if he ever had sexual contact with Suny, John replied "Not that I'm aware of."

Q: That sort of sounds like maybe you did but you forgot about it?

A: I don't know of anything ever happening that I'm aware of. (15/871)

In his closing argument to the jury, the prosecutor emphasized that his own witness John Traub's testimony on this point was both absurd and self-serving. At the time of trial, John was living in Alabama with his new girlfriend, their newborn child, and the girlfriend's son (14/827-28); the prosecutor

pointed out that John could lose custody and/or be prosecuted for the crime if he admitted having sexually abused a child in the past (26/2741). The prosecutor's contention to the jury was that, although he recognized that there were "credibility issues with Suny Houghtaling [and] frankly Suny has been inconsistent in her statements" (26/2841), she was now "telling you the absolute truth"; i.e., that both John and Roy had abused her (26/2741)].

During the first week of September, John learned that Roy Ballard had been hospitalized (14/846).

The Traubs had one car; Autumn usually drove John to and from work so she'd have the car the rest of the day. On Wednesday morning, September 13, she told John to take the car because she had a bad headache (14/847-48;15/880). Autumn called John at work at 7:15 a.m.; that was the last contact he had with her (15/851-52). At 7:45 Suny called and said that Autumn told her to call; Grandpa (Roy) was here and Autumn was going to the store with him to get something to drink (15/852). Throughout the rest of the morning, Suny called every hour or so to say that Autumn had not yet returned, so John left his workplace at lunchtime to find out what was going on (15/853-54). He and Suny went to the Lakeland hospital to see if Autumn had been in an accident, and he asked a couple of friends if they'd seen her. He didn't call Roy Ballard at that time, because he didn't have his phone number and didn't think to ask Suny (15/854-55). After 5 p.m. John called the Sheriff's Department to advise them that Autumn was missing, and later that evening, after Suny mentioned she had Roy's number, they called the Ballards. Roy said he'd been with Autumn for about

45 minutes that morning, and then dropped her off at the store. John didn't ask him which store (15/856-59,889-90).

John testified that Autumn had never before stayed out overnight without telling him, and there were no problems between the two of them. Her cell phone, wallet, driver's license, social security card, medicine, and clothing were all still at the house. Neither of the Traubs had any money, having just paid their bills. John believed that Autumn had a doctor's appointment scheduled for September 13 (15/867-74). He testified that he did not kill Autumn and to the best of his knowledge she did not run away (15/896).

Two days after he reported Autumn's disappearance, the Sheriff's office called back and said it was out of their jurisdiction, and he should contact the Lakeland police. The next morning (Sept. 16), Roy and Kathy Ballard showed up at the house and said they were taking Suny with them. When John asked why, the Ballards said it was because John had been molesting her. John replied that Autumn was missing, he as her husband was next of kin, and Suny wasn't going anywhere. The Ballards called LPD and officers came out and talked to all concerned; they confirmed that John had custody and told the Ballards they had to leave (15/863-65,890-91).

Nellie Chanatry, a clerk with the Department of Revenue, Child Support Enforcement, testified that Autumn Traub came into her office just before closing on September 12 and requested the first available appointment, which was then scheduled for 8:45 a.m. on the 13th. She was seeking to enforce the support obligation for Suny Houghtaling from her biological father

(Brink). Autumn did not keep the appointment on the 13^{th} (15/898-908).

The state next called four witnesses who were neighbors of the Ballards in Zephyrhills. Nancy Welch, her nephew Randy, and Randy's son Robert, each testified that between 2004 and 2006 (mostly toward the later part of that period) they independently observed what they felt was inappropriate contact between a grandfather (Roy) and a granddaughter (Suny)(15/913-70). Nancy, on three or four occasions, saw "[a] prolonged embrace, kiss" which she didn't feel was appropriate (15/921,932-33). To Randy, who observed the behavior about a dozen times, it appeared as if the two of them were "making out"; Suny would sit in Roy's lap and they would hug and kiss (15/942,946,950-51,957). Robert, on at least two occasions, saw inappropriate touching and kissing (15/960-61). None of the Welches reported what they'd seen (until contacted by the police after Roy's arrest), because they like to mind their own business (Nancy, Robert) or because "it would be their word against [mine]" (Randy) (15/925-26,933-35,953-55,965-68). The fourth neighbor, Angela Thurston, saw Roy and Suny "embracing in a not normal way you would see an older man with a young child", and she believed she saw them kiss on one occasion (15/977-79).

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