IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROY PHILLIP BALLARD,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-2041 L.T. No. CF06-007863-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0014087 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 stephen.ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

protections against improper death sentences by affording double checks against both the jury and judge findings; these added safeguards guarantee compliance with the Eighth Amendment without sacrificing any Sixth Amendment rights.

Prior to penalty phase deliberations, as in the instant case, the jury is instructed that it must follow the law and determine, first, whether a sufficient aggravating circumstance exists to support the imposition of the death sentence. even if Ring were implicated in this case, the trial court's instructions to the jury ensured that the jury found the existence of the CCP aggravating factor, and the jury's nine to three vote was merely a reflection of the jury's weighing of that aggravating factor versus the mitigating evidence. Compare Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817, 837 (Fla. 2003) (Pariente, J., concurring and dissenting in part) (noting uncertainty regarding whether the jury's recommendation reflected a finding of the existence of the single aggravating factor based on the judge's jury instructions); State v. Steele, 921 So. 2d 538, 555 (Fla. 2005) (Pariente, J., concurring and dissenting in part) ("To alleviate any concern that a juror may recommend death even if he or she has not found an aggravator to exist, the court could instruct the jury that a juror may recommend death only after finding the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances.

In the vast majority of cases, . . ., jurors will agree on the existence of one or more aggravators, satisfying Ring.").

In the instant case, the judge instructed the jury that CCP was the only aggravating to consider and they must determine whether it existed and if it had been established beyond a reasonable doubt. (V28:3103-05). Once the decision was made that CCP had been established beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury had to consider whether sufficient mitigating factors existed which outweighed the aggravating factor. The jury undoubtedly followed the trial court's instructions and their recommendation of death by a vote of nine to three in this case reflects their weighing process. Thus, even if Ring applied to Florida's capital sentencing scheme, the court's instructions on the law establish that the jury found the existence of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt.

Finally, as this Court noted in <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), "the United States Supreme Court repeatedly has reviewed and upheld Florida's capital sentencing statute over the past quarter of a century, and . . . has specifically directed lower courts to 'leav[e] to [the United States Supreme] Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions.'" <u>Id.</u> at 695 (quoting <u>Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Express</u>, 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989)). The fact the Supreme Court has

declined to disturb its prior decisions upholding the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme, and that only it may overrule its precedent also shows that Appellant is not entitled to relief based on Ring. 24 See Cox v. State, 819 So. 2d 705, 724 n.17 (Fla. 2002) (noting prior decisions on these issues need not be revisited "unless and until" the United States Supreme Court recedes from Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976)).

In <u>State v. Steele</u>, 921 So. 2d 538, 540 (Fla. 2005), this Court stated that it has yet to forge a majority view about whether <u>Ring</u> "applies in Florida; and if it does, what changes to Florida's sentencing scheme it requires." Contrary to this Court's statement, the <u>Ring</u> issue has been squarely put before this Court and rejected by a majority of the Court. <u>See Butler v. State</u>, 842 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting <u>Ring</u> claim in first degree murder case where court found only one aggravator,

Appellee recognizes that the denial of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court does not carry any precedential value. However, the State notes that the Supreme Court has denied certiorari in numerous Florida cases raising a constitutional attack to Florida's capital sentencing scheme based on Ring. See e.g., Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070 (2002); King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1067 (2002); Cox v. State, 819 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1120 (2003); Pagan v. State, 830 So. 2d 792 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 539 U.S. 919 (2003).

HAC, and jury's recommendation of death was not unanimous). 25 Like the instant case, Butler was on direct appeal and his sentence of death was imposed without any of the factors, such as a prior violent felony or contemporaneous enumerated felony conviction, or a unanimous jury recommendation, which would take it outside the purview of Ring. The denial of Butler's claim was consistent with precedent from this Court and the United States Supreme Court. See also Coday v. State, 946 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting Ring claim in single aggravator case, HAC, and non-unanimous jury recommendation, but reversing death sentence for other reasons) (plurality opinion).

As previously noted, this Court has repeatedly held that under Florida law, a defendant becomes death eligible once he is convicted of first degree murder. Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532, 538 (Fla. 2001) (holding that "when section 775.082 (1) is read in pari materia with section 921.141, Florida Statutes, there can be no doubt that a person convicted of a capital felony faces a maximum possible penalty of death"); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003) ("we have repeatedly held that the maximum penalty under the statute is death");

²⁵ Appellant attempts to minimize this Court's decision in <u>Butler</u> by asserting that the issue was only before this Court based on a motion for rehearing and was not fully briefed. Although that may be the case, this Court had no reservations about addressing the merits of the issue.

Shere v. Moore, 830 So. 2d 56 (Fla. 2002) (stating that a Florida defendant is eligible for a sentence of death if convicted of a capital felony); Mann v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 595, 2001) (finding the plain language (Fla. of 775.082(1) is clear that the maximum penalty available for a person convicted of a capital felony is death). Because a jury must unanimously vote to find a defendant guilty of first degree murder beyond a reasonable doubt, every person on death row has been placed there by a unanimous vote. Under Florida law, the sentencing phase is for the judge and jury to consider the possible sentences for which the defendant has already been found eligible and is not to make factual findings that enhance a sentence. Thus, because Ring does not apply to Florida's capital sentencing scheme, this Court should deny Appellant's claim that his death sentence is unconstitutional.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED MANNER WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF MORAL OR JUSTIFICATION, AND APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE BASED ON A SINGLE AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS PROPORTIONATE GIVEN THE SLIGHT MITIGATIION PRESENT IN THIS CASE.

In his third issue, Appellant asserts that the evidence did not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, and further asserts that even if the trial court properly found CCP, his death sentence is disproportionate. Contrary to Appellant's position, the trial court properly found the existence of the CCP aggravating circumstance, and his death sentence is proportionate to other capital cases.

This Court has previously held that the issue of whether an aggravating circumstance exists is a factual finding reviewed under the competent, substantial evidence test. This Court's function is not to reweigh the evidence, but rather to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent, substantial evidence supports its finding. Alston v. State, 723 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998). In this case, competent, substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding of CCP. As the trial court noted, "the evidence presented by the State

in this case clearly establishes beyond and to the exclusion of any reasonable doubt that the existence of the cold, calculated and premeditated (CCP) aggravator." (V9:1405).

In order to establish that a murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP), the State must show that the murder was (1) the product of a careful plan or prearranged design; (2) the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage; (3) the result of heightened premeditation; and (4) committed with no pretense of moral or legal justification. Rodriguez v. State, 753 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 2000). In the instant case, the trial court analyzed each of these factors in detail, and competent, substantial evidence supports his findings. In support of CCP, the trial court stated:

(1) <u>COLD</u>. The killing must have been the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage.

Roy Ballard desired to reobtain custody of S.H. for his own sexual gratification and while this motive may have been grounded in passion, the crime committed was not done in the heat of any passion. See DeAngelo v. State, 616 So. 2d 440, 442 (Fla. 1993). Standing in the way of regaining custody of S.H. was Autumn Traub (S.H.'s mother). The Defendant attempted a direct confrontation with Autumn and the use of the "custody papers" (apparently, a Power of Attorney and letter authorizing the Ballards to have custody of S.H. while Autumn was in prison.) This attempt failed as the policemen who intervened indicated that they could not enforce those "custody papers" and that Mr. Ballard would have to go through a court proceeding. It

appears that Mr. Ballard consulted a lawyer, but no further court proceedings were initiated, presumably because he feared that his sexual relationship with S.H. would come to light.

Confronted with the obstacle of Autumn not wanting to voluntarily relinquish custody of S.H., the Defendant came to the conclusion that if Autumn were removed from the scene (as she had been when she was sent to prison), S.H. would be returned to the custody of Kathy Ballard, the Defendant's wife, and therefore to him. The Defendant set upon a course of action to eliminate Autumn Traub, which may have been interrupted by his brief hospitalization, but that culminated in the death of Autumn Traub.

On the morning of September 13, 2006, the Defendant made the trip from his home in Zephyrhills to Autumn Traub's residence. He parked away from her home and calmly met with her after John Traub had left for work. He then talked her into going for a drive with him to discuss S.H.'s future.

This confrontation did not include any heated passion as involved in <u>Santos v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 1991), or a domestic confrontation as involved in <u>Farinas v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1999); nor was there any hatred or jealously or passionate confrontation. <u>See Santos v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 160, 163 (Fla. 1991), <u>explaining Douglas v. State</u>, 575 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991).

(2) <u>CALCULATED</u>. The Defendant must have had a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder before the fatal incident.

After coming to the conclusion that he could reobtain custody of S.H. by eliminating Autumn Traub, the Defendant set upon a course to accomplish that end.

On September 2, 2006, the Defendant went to a Lowe's hardware store (as established by a receipt and confirmed by video surveillance) to purchase a very unique special purpose item, an 18" metal pipe. When later confronted about the purchase of this pipe, the Defendant could not remember buying it, could not

remember using it, and could not remember what he did with it. This is an incredible statement in light of the very unique nature of the pipe purchased.

On September 12, 2006, the Defendant left work early and traveled from his workplace in Tampa, passed his home in Zephyrhills, to an area in North Lakeland/North Polk County as is evidenced by his cell phone utilizing the cell phone tower in that area. This is an area of Polk County that is rural, undeveloped, and remote. His cell phone is "captured" in that same area on the morning of September 13, 2006, by the same cell phone tower.

It is apparent from this evidence that the Defendant travelled to that area on September 12, 2006, to scout out a remote area where he would be able to commit the murder of Autumn Traub and/or dispose of her body.

On September 13, 2006, instead of going to work, the Defendant drove to Lakeland and parked his vehicle somewhat removed from Autumn Traub's residence. He then situated himself so as not to be observable from Autumn's home and waited for John Traub to leave for work so as to isolate Autumn. He then approached Autumn, under the auspices of discussing S.H.'s future, and convinced her to accompany him to get a drink. At 11:16 a.m., several hours after picking Autumn up, the Defendant's cell phone utilizes a cell phone tower in North Polk County and this coincides with Kathy Ballard's testimony that she called the Defendant during her break, sometime after 11:00 a.m. on that morning.

Michael Needham (the Defendant's former cellmate) testified that the Defendant told him that he hit Autumn in the back of her head with the pipe. Then, after killing her, he knocked her teeth out to eliminate any dental records and then placed her body in some form of acidic water and held her down with cement blocks.

According to Mr. Needham, the Defendant then stated that he disposed of the murder weapon, the pipe, by grinding it up at his place of employment, a metal fabrication shop.

This was a well thought out and executed plan.

(3) **PREMEDITATED**. The Defendant must have exhibited heightened premeditation.

Heightened premeditation is more than what is required to prove First Degree Premeditated Murder and includes deliberate ruthlessness, <u>Buzia v. State</u>, 926 So. 2d 1203 (Fla. 2006).

"Heightened premeditation necessary for CCP is established where the Defendant had ample opportunity to release the victim but instead, after substantial reflection, acted out the plan he had conceived during the extended period in which the events occurred. Hudson v. State, ____ So. 2d ____, 33 FLW S465, 471 (Fla. July 3, 2008).

Roy Ballard procured the murder weapon on September 2, 2006, a week and a half before the murder. His plan was interrupted by a hospitalization but was thereafter carried out on September 13, 2006.

On September 12, 2006, the Defendant scouted out an area in North Lakeland to commit the crime and dispose of the body. On September 13, 2006, the Defendant left his home in Zephyrhills at the normal time and, instead of going to work, travelled to Lakeland. He then hid and waited 20 to 30 minutes until John Traub left for work so that he could isolate Autumn Traub.

He confronted Autumn, convinced her to accompany him, let her go inside to tell S.H. she was leaving with the Defendant and walked with Autumn to his car that was somewhat remotely parked. He then drove off with Autumn and eventually took her to rural North Polk County.

The Defendant had ample opportunity to abandon his plan and/or release Autumn on several different occasions on that morning. More specifically, instead of going to work, the Defendant drove from Zephyrhills to Lakeland, at least a 20 to 30 minute trip. This gave him time to reflect upon what he was about to do.

Upon arriving in Lakeland, he parked and then walked to an area where he could hide and observe Autumn's residence. He waited 20 to 30 minutes in order to isolate Autumn and would have again had time to reflect upon what he was about to do.

After John Traub left the area, Roy Ballard approached and confronted Autumn to talk about S.H.'s future. He could have easily ended the confrontation at that point. Instead, he convinced Autumn to ride with him and even allowed her to go into her residence before leaving. He could have very easily turned and left when Autumn went inside.

Autumn advised S.H. that she was going to the store with the Defendant to get a soda. Autumn voluntarily got into the Defendant's car and accompanied him. The Defendant could have easily left Autumn behind or, at any time during the course of the trip, let her out. Instead, he travelled to rural North Polk County.

Upon arriving in the remote area, the Defendant once again could have abandoned his plan and taken Autumn home. He didn't. Instead, he hit her on the head with the pipe, killed her, and disposed of her body.

These facts constitute heightened premeditation.

(4) **NO JUSTIFICATION**. There must have been no pretense of moral or legal justification.

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